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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by and are the 
responsibility of the management of Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. (the “Company”).  The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 
reflect management’s best estimate and judgement based on currently available information. 
 
Management is also responsible for a system of internal control which is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, liabilities are recognized and that the 
accounting systems provide timely and accurate financial reports. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities in 
respect of financial reporting and internal control.  The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
meets periodically with management and the Company’s independent auditors to discuss 
auditing matters and financial reporting issues.  In addition, the Audit Committee reviews the 
annual consolidated financial statements before they are presented to the Board of Directors for 
approval. 
 
The Company’s independent auditors, Grant Thornton LLP, are appointed by the shareholders 
to conduct an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Canada, and 
their report follows. 
 
 
 
March 10, 2022  /s/ Scott Gilbert 
Toronto, Canada  Chief Financial Officer 
 
  



Grant Thornton LLP 
11th Floor 
200 King Street West, Box 11 
Toronto, ON 
M5H 3T4 

T +1 416 366 0100 
F +1 416 360 4949 
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Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholders of Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 
and 2020, and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, consolidated statements 
of total equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Reversal of Kiena Impairment 
Refer to Note 14 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on a preliminary feasibility study completed during the reporting year, operations at the Kiena mine 
project were restarted in May 2021.  This resulted in the reversal of previous impairment charges in the 
amount of $56.3 million and $2.3 million relating to mining properties and property, plant and equipment 
respectively.     
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The impairment reversal of the Kiena mine project was identified as a key audit matter because of its 
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the complexity associated with management’s 
assessment process, including the judgments, estimation and assumptions used, which included the 
economic performance and future economic benefits from the Kiena mine project and the remaining useful 
lives of the assets for which impairment was reversed.  

Our audit procedures included, amongst other procedures: 

 Evaluation of management’s memos and calculations on the reversal of previous impairment
charges;

 Performance of a sensitivity analysis on management’s estimations regarding gold prices;

 Consideration of the qualifications and objectivity of the expert engaged by the Company to
evaluate the reasonableness of the impairment amounts reversed;

 Evaluation of the reasonableness of the inputs and assumptions used in management’s expert’s
report;

 Assessment of the reversed impairment amounts for appropriateness as required by IFRS;

 Evaluation of the appropriateness of the disclosure requirements for impairment reversal in
accordance with IFRS.

Moss Lake Sale Transaction 
Refer to Notes 7, 10 and 17 of the consolidated financial statements. 

During the reporting year the Company closed the sale of the Moss Lake Project (‘Moss Lake’), with 
Goldshore Resources Inc. (‘Goldshore’) acquiring all of Company’s property, assets and rights related to 
Moss Lake such that Goldshore holds a 100% interest in Moss Lake.  
The Moss Lake sale was determined to be a key audit matter given the significance of the transaction to the 
consolidated financial statements, and that management’s assessment process is complex, highly 
judgmental and includes estimation uncertainty for the fair values of share considerations and milestone 
payments. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst other procedures: 
 Review of the relevant sale agreement to identify and assess relevant terms and conditions;
 Consideration of the qualifications and objectivity of the third-party valuation expert utilized by the

Company to complete the valuation report for the fair value of the transaction;
 Engagement of our internal valuation team to assess management expert’s valuation report for the

inputs and assumptions, such as volatility and the risk-free rate, used in determination of the fair
value of share consideration receivable;

 Assessment of the property sale transaction for appropriate accounting under provisions of IFRS;
 Evaluation of the equity accounting treatment for the investment in associate and related disclosure

requirements for appropriateness as required by IFRS.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management 
Discussion and Analysis but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Company audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because of the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Mark Irwin. 

Toronto, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
March 10, 2022 Licensed Public Accountants 
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Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

  

Commitments and subsequent event (notes 31 and 32) 

On behalf of the Board: 

 

         /s/ Duncan Middlemiss                     /s/ Charles Main 
                Director                Director 

Notes

 As at December 
31, 2021

 As at December 
31, 2020

(Note 3)

Assets

Current 

  Cash and cash equivalents 56,764$             63,480$            

  Receivables and prepaids 9 13,793 8,974

  Share consideration receivable 10 4,560  -  

  Inventories 11 17,918 12,451

Total current assets 93,035 84,905

Restricted cash 12 657 657

Deferred financing costs 19 758 827

Mining properties, plant and equipment 13 212,394 128,670

Mines under development 15 214,089  -  

Exploration properties 16 1,139 133,221

Marketable securities 1,860  -  

Share consideration receivable 10 10,729  -  

Investment in associate 17 19,058  -  

Total assets 553,719$           348,280$          

Liabilities 

Current 

  Payables and accruals 18 40,093$             21,123$            

  Income and mining tax payable  5,490 3,481

  Current portion of lease liabilities 19 7,789 5,901

Total current liabilities 53,372 30,505

Lease liabilities 19 6,786 5,604

Deferred income and mining tax liabilities 23 77,195 33,532

Decommissioning provisions 20 21,191 22,270

Total liabilities 158,544 91,911

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

  Capital stock 21 187,911 179,540

  Contributed surplus 5,859 6,472

  Retained earnings 201,645 70,357

  Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (240)  -  

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 395,175 256,369

Total liabilities and equity 553,719$           348,280$          
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Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except for per share amounts)  

  

Years Ended December 31, 
Notes 2021 2020

 

Revenues 25 262,907$        215,466$        

Cost of sales 26 (145,619) (125,386)

Gross profit 117,288 90,080

Other expenses

Corporate and general 10,614 7,378

Stock-based compensation 22 2,604 2,786

Exploration and evaluation 471  -  

Reversal of impairment charges 14 (58,563)  -  

(Gain) loss on disposal of mining equipment (3)  -  

Write-down of mining equipment 13  -  427

Impairment charge on exploration properties 16 7,507 2,034

(37,370) 12,625

Operating income 154,658 77,455

Gain on sale of Moss Lake exploration properties 7 34,330  -  

Interest expense 27 (1,194) (1,096)

Accretion of decommissioning provisions 20 (556) (354)

Share of loss of associate 17 (497)  -  
Fair value adjustment on share consideration receivable 10 1,947  -  

Other expenses 27 (363) (1,105)

Income before income and mining taxes 188,325 74,900

Income and mining tax expense

  Current 23 13,375 10,660

  Deferred 23 43,662  13,525

Total income and mining tax expense 57,037 24,185

Net income 131,288$        50,715$          

Other comprehensive loss

    Change in fair value of marketable securities (240)  -  

Total comprehensive income 131,048$        50,715$          

Earnings per share

  Basic 24 0.94$               0.36$              

  Diluted 24 0.92$               0.36$              

Weighted average number of common

  shares (000s)

  Basic 24 140,195 139,045

  Diluted 24 142,787 142,569
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Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
Consolidated Statements of Total Equity 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Accumulated
Other

Capital Contributed Retained Comprehensive Total
Notes Stock Surplus Earnings Loss Equity

(Note 3) (Note 3)

Balance, December 31, 2019 174,789$       5,590$           19,642$         -  $                   200,021$       

Net income for the year ended  -   -  50,715  -  50,715

 December 31, 2020

Exercise of options 22 2,847  -   -   -  2,847

Value attributed to options exercised 22 1,327 (1,327)  -   -   -  

Value attributed to RSUs exercised 22 577 (577)  -   -   -  

Stock-based compensation 22  -  2,786  -   -  2,786

Balance, December 31, 2020 179,540$       6,472$           70,357$         -  $                   256,369$       

Net income for the year ended  -   -  131,288  -  131,288

  December 31, 2021

Other comprehensive loss  -   -   -  (240) (240)

Exercise of options 22 5,154  -   -   -  5,154

Value attributed to options exercised 22 2,431 (2,431)  -   -   -  

Value attributed to RSUs exercised 22 786 (786)  -   -   -  

Stock-based compensation 22  -  2,604  -   -  2,604

Balance, December 31, 2021 187,911$       5,859$           201,645$       (240)$             395,175$       
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Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd.  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

 

Notes 2021 2020

Operating Activities

  Net income 131,288$          50,715$            

  Depreciation and depletion 26 28,066  26,346

  Stock-based compensation 22 2,604 2,786
  Accretion of decommissioning provisions 20 556 354
  Deferred income and mining tax expense 23 43,662 13,525
  Amortization of deferred financing cost 27 412 370
  Interest expense 27 1,194 1,096
  Reversal of impairment charges 14 (58,563)  -  
  Gain on sale of Moss Lake exploration properties 7 (34,330)  -  
  Impairment charge on exploration properties 16 7,507 2,034
  (Gain) loss on disposal of mining equipment 13 (3) -

  Write-down of mining equipment 13 - 427
  Share of loss of associate 17 497  -  
  Fair value adjustment on share consideration receivable 10 (1,947)  -  
  Foreign exchange gain on lease financing 19 (23) (36)

  Net changes in non-cash working capital 30 21,403  13,272

  Mining and income tax paid  (11,365)  (8,597)

Net cash from operating activities 130,958  102,292

Financing Activities   

  Exercise of options 22 5,154 2,847

  Deferred financing costs 19 (342) (209)

  Repayment of borrowings 19  -  (3,636)

  Repayment of lease liabilities 19 (8,778) (4,847)

  Interest paid 27 (1,194) (1,096)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,160) (6,941)

 

Investing Activities   

  Additions to mining properties 13 (42,867) (27,956)

  Additions to mines under development 15 (76,337)  -  

  Additions to exploration properties 16 (23,267) (40,480)

  Purchase of exploration property 16 (1,000)  -  

  Cash proceeds on sale of Moss Lake, net 7 11,762  -  

     of transaction costs

  Investment in marketable securities (2,100)  -  

  Proceeds on disposal of mining assets 13 73  -  

  Net changes in non-cash working capital 30 1,222 908

Net cash used in investing activities (132,514)  (67,528)

 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,716) 27,823

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 63,480 35,657

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 56,764$            63,480$            

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

  Cash 56,764$            63,480$            

  Term deposits  -   -  

 56,764$            63,480$            

Years ended December 31,



 

Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
- 10 - 

Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Tabular currency amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except for per share amounts) 
 
 
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
 
Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. (“Wesdome” or the “Company”) is a Canadian focused company with two 
producing underground gold mines.  The Company is a gold producer with two mines in Ontario and 
Québec.  The Eagle River Underground Mine is located in Wawa, Ontario. The Kiena Complex is located 
in Val-d’Or, Québec and a restart of operations was announced on May 26, 2021.  The Company has 
completed a pre-feasibility study in support of the production restart decision.  Wesdome has an exploration 
program both underground and on surface within the mine area and more regionally at both the Eagle River 
and Kiena Complex.  The Company also retains exposure to the Moss Lake gold deposit, located west of 
Thunder Bay, Ontario through its equity position in Goldshore Resources Inc. (“Goldshore”).  The Company 
trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “WDO” with a secondary listing on the OTCQX 
under the symbol “WDOFF”.  The registered and principal office of the Company is located at 220 Bay 
Street, Suite 1200, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2W4. 
 
The Company continues to monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The Company’s top priority 
remains the health and safety of its employees, contractors, vendors, and consultants.  Operations at the 
Eagle River Complex and drilling and development work at the Kiena Complex have continued with 
measures in place to facilitate enhanced physical distancing to limit the potential spread of COVID-19. 
 
Additional costs being incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic include the procurement of additional 
personal protective equipment, additional health and safety personnel on site and higher input costs.  These 
costs are in addition to various inefficiencies including but not limited to having lower headcount levels on 
site and delays in the supply chain.  The Company is actively monitoring the impact of these costs on its 
financial results and financial reporting. 
 
 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“Cdn $”), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries as detailed below. 
 
 Subsidiary Ownership  
 0976408 B.C. Ltd. (“Windarra Minerals Ltd.” “Windarra”) 100% 
 2404027 Ontario Inc. (“Moss Lake Gold Mines Ltd.” “MLGM”) 100% 
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on March 10, 2022. 
 
3. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 
 
Exploration and Evaluation Costs 
 
The Company has revised its policy related to exploration and evaluation expenditures.  Exploration costs 
will no longer be capitalized, until such point as the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the 
project have been determined.  The Company believes expensing such costs as incurred is more reliable 
and relevant financial information. See Note 4 for details regarding the Company’s revised exploration and 
evaluation costs policy.  
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As a result of the policy change, a write-down of $10,303,000 has been recorded to reduce the carrying 
value of exploration assets.  Changes in accounting policies are required to be applied retrospectively, 
therefore $10,303,000 of exploration costs incurred prior to January 1, 2020 have been adjusted directly to 
opening retained earnings.      
 
The change in accounting policy did not impact the Company’s comparative consolidated statements of 
income and comprehensive income and consolidated statements of cash flows.   
 
The below table reflects the amounts previously reported as of January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020 
on the consolidated statement of financial position and the restated amounts after applying the revised 
policy. 
 

  
 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As previously 

reported Adjustment Restated

Assets

Current 

  Cash and cash equivalents 35,657$         -$                   35,657$         

  Receivables and prepaids 5,340 -                     5,340

  Inventories 19,667 -                     19,667

Total current assets 60,664 -                     60,664

Restricted cash 657 -                     657

Deferred financing cost 988 -                     988

Mineral properties, plant and equipment 116,765 -                     116,765

Exploration properties 106,644 (10,303)              96,341

Total assets 285,718$       (10,303)$            275,415$       

Liabilities 

Current 

  Borrowings 3,636$          -$                   3,636$          

  Payables and accruals 19,219 -                     19,219

  Income and mining tax payable 1,419 -                     1,419

  Current portion of lease liabilities 3,781 -                     3,781

Total current liabilities 28,055 -                     28,055

Lease liabilities 5,889 -                     5,889

Deferred income and mining tax liabilities 23,829 (3,822)                20,007

Decommissioning provisions 21,443 -                     21,443

Total liabilities 79,216 (3,822)                75,394

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

  Capital stock 174,789 -                     174,789

  Contributed surplus 5,590 -                     5,590

  Retained earnings 26,123 (6,481) 19,642

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 206,502 (6,481) 200,021

285,718$       (10,303)$            275,415$       

As at January 1, 2020
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Basis of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries.  All transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries are 
eliminated on consolidation. 
 

(b) Revenue Recognition 
The Company’s primary product is gold; other metals produced as part of the extraction process are 
considered to be by-products arising from production of gold.  Revenue relating to the sale of metals is 
recognized when control of the metal is transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the 
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products.  In determining whether 
the Company has satisfied the performance obligation, it considers the indicators of the transfer of 
control, which include, but are not limited to, whether the Company has a present right of payment; the 
customer has legal title to the asset; the Company has transferred physical possession of the asset to 
the customer; and the customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products. 
 
During the process of preparing an item of mineral property, plant equipment available for its intended 
use, the Company may produce and sell items, such as minerals extracted in the process of 
constructing the mine. The proceeds from the sale of these items are included in profit or loss in 
accordance with the amendment to IAS 16 regarding proceeds before intended use.  

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As previously 

reported Adjustment Restated

Assets

Current 

  Cash and cash equivalents 63,480$         -$                   63,480$         

  Receivables and prepaids 8,974 -                     8,974

  Inventories 12,451 -                     12,451

Total current assets 84,905 -                     84,905

Restricted cash 657 -                     657

Deferred financing cost 827 -                     827

Mineral properties, plant and equipment 128,670 -                     128,670

Exploration properties 143,524 (10,303)              133,221

Total assets 358,583$       (10,303)$            348,280$       

Liabilities 

Current 

  Payables and accruals 21,123$         -$                   21,123$         

  Income and mining tax payable 3,481 -                     3,481

  Current portion of lease liabilities 5,901 -                     5,901

Total current liabilities 30,505 -                     30,505

Lease liabilities 5,604 -                     5,604

Deferred income and mining tax liabilities 37,354 (3,822)                33,532

Decommissioning provisions 22,270 -                     22,270

Total liabilities 95,733 (3,822)                91,911

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

  Capital stock 179,540 -                     179,540
  Contributed surplus 6,472 -                     6,472

  Retained earnings 76,838 (6,481) 70,357

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 262,850 (6,481) 256,369

358,583$       (10,303)$            348,280$       

As at December 31, 2020
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(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and highly liquid investments 
with maturities of less than three months. 

 
(d) Inventories 

Inventories consisting of gold bullion, gold in process and ore stockpiles are recorded at the lower of 
production costs on a weighted average basis and net realizable value (“NRV”).  Production costs 
include costs related to mining, crushing, and mill processing, as well as applicable overhead and 
depletion. 
 
Ore stockpiles consist of coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further 
processing.  Costs are added to stockpiles based on the current mining cost per tonne and removed at 
an average cost per tonne. 
 
Supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and replacement cost, which approximates NRV. 
 

(e) Mining Properties, Plant and Equipment 
(i) Cost and valuation 

Mining properties, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depletion and any 
impairment in value.  When an asset is disposed of, it is derecognized and the difference between 
its carrying value and net sales proceeds is recognized as a gain or loss in net income. 

 
(ii) Mining properties, plant and equipment 

Mining properties, plant and equipment include expenditures incurred on properties under 
development, payments related to the acquisition of land and mineral rights and property, plant and 
equipment which are recorded at cost on initial acquisition.  Cost includes the purchase price and 
the directly attributable costs of acquisition or construction required to bring an asset to the location 
and condition necessary for the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Mine development costs incurred to expand operating capacity, develop new ore bodies or develop 
mine areas in advance of current production are capitalized.  Mine development costs related to 
current period production are allocated to inventory as appropriate. 
 

(iii) Depletion and depreciation 
Mine development costs, property, and other mining assets whose estimated useful life is the same 
as the remaining life of the mine are depleted over the mine’s estimated life using the units-of-
production method (“UOP”) calculated based on proven and probable reserves.  Equipment and 
other non-mining assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, 
or the remaining life of the mine if shorter, to their residual values: 
 
 Vehicles   1 to 5 years 
 Mobile mining fleet  1 to 5 years 
 Machinery and equipment 1 to 6 years 
 Buildings and bunkhouses 10 years 
 Furniture and fixtures  5 years 
 
Where components of an item of property, plant and equipment have a different useful life and cost 
that is significant to the total cost of the item, depreciation and depletion is calculated on each 
separate component. 
 
Depreciation and depletion methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at a minimum 
at the end of each year. 
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(iv) Subsequent costs 
Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.  However, expenditures on major 
maintenance rebuilds or overhauls are capitalized when it is probable that the expenditures will 
extend the productive capacity or useful life of an asset.  Any remaining costs of previous overhauls 
relating to the same asset are derecognized.  All other expenditures are expensed as incurred. 
 

(f) Mines under development 
The Company classifies mining projects as mines under development when established mineral 
resources and reserves have been identified however the project is not yet in commercial production.  
The Company reclassifies mines under development as mining properties when the project enters into 
commercial production. 
 
Mines under development are not depreciated until the project enters into commercial production. 

 
(g) Leased Assets 

When the economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee, the lessee bears 
substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset.  The related asset 
is then recognized at the inception of the lease at the lower of the present value of minimum lease 
payments and the fair value of the leased asset and a corresponding amount is recognized as a finance 
lease liability. 
 
Depreciation methods and useful lives for assets held under finance lease agreements correspond to 
those applied to comparable assets which are legally owned by the Company.  The corresponding 
finance lease liability is reduced by lease payments less finance charges, which are expensed as part 
of finance costs. 
 
The interest portion of lease payments is charged to profit or loss over the period of the lease.  
Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 
 

(h) Exploration and Evaluation Costs 
Exploration expenditures reflect the costs related to the initial search for mineral deposits with economic 
potential or obtaining more information about existing mineral deposits.  Exploration expenditures 
typically include costs associated with sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in 
searching for ore. 
 
Evaluation expenditures reflect costs incurred at exploration projects related to establishing the 
technical and commercial viability of developing mineral deposits identified through exploration or asset 
acquisition. 
 
Evaluation expenditures include the cost of: 
 

(i) establishing the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core samples, trenching and 
sampling activities in an ore body that is classified as either a mineral resource or a proven and 
probable reserve, 
 

(ii) determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and treatment processes, 
 

(iii) studies related to surveying, transportation and infrastructure requirements, 
 

(iv) permitting activities, and 
 

(v) economic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralized material is 
commercially justified, including scoping, prefeasibility and final feasibility studies. 

 
All expenditures relating to exploration and evaluation activities are expensed until technical feasibility 
and commercial viability have been determined by the Company.  Costs incurred after determing that 
a project is technically feasible and commercialy viable are capitalized as incurred under exploration 
properties until such time as the Company expects that mineral resources will be converted to mineral 
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reserves within a reasonable period and mine development commences.  Thereafter, accumulated 
exploration and evaluation costs for the project are tested for impairment and are reclassified to mines 
under development.  Exploration and evaluation costs of abandoned properties are expensed in the 
period in which the project is abandoned. 

 
(i) Impairment  of Non-Financial Assets 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash generating units (“CGUs”)).  The Company’s CGUs are its 
individual operating mine sites and exploration properties.  At the end of each reporting period, the 
Company reviews and evaluates its mining and exploration properties either individually or at the CGU 
level to determine whether the carrying amount of the asset exceeds their recoverable amount.  If any 
such indication exists, the excess is fully provided for, in the financial period of determination. 
 
The recoverable amount of a mine site or exploration property is the greater of its fair value less costs 
of disposal (“FVLCD”) and its value-in-use (“VIU”).  The FVLCD is estimated as the recoverable amount 
resulting from the sale of an asset or CGU, less the costs of disposal.  The VIU is estimated as the 
discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be derived from a mine site or exploration property.  If 
the recoverable amount of a mine site is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount is reduced to its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized as operating expenses 
in the period they are incurred.  When an impairment loss reverses in a subsequent period, the carrying 
amount of the related asset is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount to the extent 
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset previously.  Reversals of impairment 
losses are recognized in profit or loss in the period the reversals occur. 

 
(j) Income and Mining Taxes 

Income and mining taxes are calculated using the liability method where current income and mining 
taxes are recognized as an expense for the estimated income or mining taxes payable for the current 
period. 
 
Deferred income and mining tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the 
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and on unclaimed losses carried forward, to 
the extent that it is probable that deductions, credits and tax losses can be utilized, and are measured 
using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are 
expected to reverse or losses are expected to be utilized.  Deferred income and mining taxes relating 
to the initial recognition of an asset or liability are not recognized in transactions that, at the time of 
transactions, neither affect the accounting nor taxable income, or are the result of a business 
acquisition.  The deferred tax relating to items recorded in other comprehensive income is linked to 
these items for reporting purposes. 
 
On a consolidated basis the Company does not offset asset and liability amounts with those of the 
subsidiary and with amounts owing to different taxation authorities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to set off deferred tax assets and liabilities 
from the same taxation authority. 
 

(k) Investment in associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence.  Significant influence is the 
ability to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee without having control 
or joint control over those policies.  In general, significant influence is presumed to exist when the 
Company has between 20% and 50% of voting power unless it can be clearly demonstrated that the 
Company does not have significant influence. 
 
The Company accounts for its investment in associate using the equity method from the effective date 
of commencement of significant influence until the date that the Company ceases to have significant 
influence.  In accordance with the equity method, the Company’s investment in associate is initially 



 

Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
- 16 - 

recognized at cost and subsequently decreased or increased to recognize the Company's share of net 
earnings/loss and other comprehensive earnings/loss of the associate and any impairment loss after 
initial recognition. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence 
that its investment in associate is impaired. 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the following associate: 

 

Associate name Location Ownership interest Accounting method Mining projects owned 

Goldshore Resources Inc. Canada 26% Equity method Moss Lake 

 
Goldshore became an associate of the Company effective May 31, 2021. 

 
(l) Equity and Reserves 

Capital stock represents the consideration received for shares that have been issued, net of related 
issuance costs. 
 
Contributed surplus includes the value of share-based payments, net of the value of expired and 
exercised grants. 
 
Retained earnings (deficit) represents accumulated retained earnings losses from all current and prior 
periods.  Amounts related to expired stock options are reclassified from contributed surplus to retained 
earnings (deficit) upon expiry of the stock options. 
 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes the unrealized gains and losses of available-for-sale 
financial assets.  

 
(m) Employee Benefits 

(i) Salaries and short-term employee benefits 
Salaries and short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and 
are expensed as the related service is provided. 

 
(ii) Pension plan 

The Company has a defined contribution plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions 
through a separate entity.  Under this plan, the Company will have no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized 
as an employee benefit expense when due. 

 
(n) Provisions 

(i) General 
Provisions are recognized when present obligations, as a result of a past event, is expected to 
result in an outflow of economic resources from the Company and amounts can be estimated 
reliably.  The timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises 
from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events.  
Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

 
Provisions are based on the most reliable information available at the reporting date, including the 
risks and uncertainties associated with the current best estimate. 
 

(ii) Decommissioning provisions 
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and 
regulations relating to the protection of the environment.  These laws and regulations are continually 
changing and are generally becoming more restrictive.  The Company has made, and will continue 
to make expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  Decommissioning costs expected 



 

Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd. 
- 17 - 

to be incurred in the future are estimated by the Company’s management based on the information 
available to them. 
 
The Company’s estimates are reviewed each reporting period for changes in regulatory 
requirements, discount rates, and changes in estimates to the timing and amounts of cash flows.  
Management considers the Bank of Canada bond rate related to the life of mine when determining 
the discount rate.  The rate is subsequently adjusted for risk to allow for the indeterminate nature 
of the mine life. 
 
Estimated decommissioning costs are provided for in the accounting period when the obligation 
arising from the related disturbance occurs, based on the net present value of estimated future 
costs with an offsetting amount being recognized as an increase in the carrying amount of the 
corresponding mining asset.  This asset is amortized on a UOP basis over the estimated life of the 
mine while the corresponding provisions accrete to its undiscounted value by the end of the mine’s 
life. 

 
(m) Financial Instrument Classification and Measurement 

Financial instruments are measured on initial recognition at fair value, and, in the case of financial 
instruments other than those classified as ‘‘fair value through profit and loss” (“FVTPL”), directly 
attributable transaction costs. 
 
(i) Recognition and Measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Company’s consolidated statement 
of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.  On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are recorded at fair 
value, net of attributable transaction costs, except for financial assets and liabilities classified as 
FVTPL.  The directly attributable transactions costs of financial assets and liabilities as at FVTPL 
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities depends on the classification of such 
assets and liabilities. 
 

(ii) Classification of financial assets 
Amortized cost: 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortized cost: 
 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows, and 

 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

The amortized cost of financial assets is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at 
initial recognition minus the principal payments, plus the cumulative amortization using effective 
interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance. 
 
The Company’s financial assets measured at amortized costs primarily include cash and cash 
equivalents and other receivables included in current assets. 
 
Fair value through other comprehensive income: 

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale financial assets and are 
initially recorded at fair value at the date of purchase plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Marketable securities are subsequently measured at their fair value based on the quoted market 
prices with unrealized gains or losses reported as other comprehensive income or loss.  
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Fair value through profit and loss:  

The Company’s share consideration receivable is measured at FVTPL.  This may create future 
fluctuations in the Company’s net income and total comprehensive income. 
 
 

(iii) Classification of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using effective interest method. 
 

(iv) Impairment 
The Company recognizes loss allowance for expected credit losses on its financial assets.  The 
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit 
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instruments. 

 
(n) Stock-based Compensation 

The Company’s omnibus equity incentive plan (the “2020 Omnibus Plan”) is designed to advance the 
interests of the Company by encouraging employees, officers and directors to have equity participation 
in the Company through the acquisition of common shares.  The types of awards available under the 
2020 Omnibus Plan include options, restricted share units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”), 
deferred share units (“DSUs”) and dividend-equivalent rights (“DERs”) (collectively, "Awards").  The 
2020 Omnibus Plan was established in June 2020 to replace the equity settled common share purchase 
plan (the “2017 Omnibus Plan”), which was in existence since May 2017. 
 
(i) Stock options 

Stock options granted vest over a period of three years.  Stock options have an exercise price of 
no less than the closing price of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the trading 
day immediately preceding the date on which the options are granted and are exercisable for a 
period not to exceed five years.  The cost of these stock options is measured using the estimated 
fair value at the date of the grant determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
 
The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the 
expected term of the option and stock price volatility.  The expected term of options granted is 
determined based on historical data on the average hold period before exercise, expiry or 
cancellation.  Annually, the estimated forfeiture rate is adjusted for actual forfeitures in the period. 
 
Expected volatility is estimated with reference to the historical volatility of the share price of the 
Company.  The costs are recognized over the vesting period of the option.  The total amount 
recognized as share-based compensation expense is adjusted to reflect the number of options 
expected to vest at each reporting date.  The corresponding credit for these costs is recognized in 
contributed surplus. 
 
 

(ii) RSUs and PSUs 
The RSUs and PSUs are awarded to executives and are measured at fair value, which is determined 
based on the closing stock price of the Company at the grant date.  The fair value of the estimated 
number of RSUs and PSUs awarded, that are expected to vest is recognized as share-based 
compensation expense over the vesting period of the RSUs and PSUs with a corresponding amount 
recorded in contributed surplus until the respective shares are issued in settlement of the RSUs and 
PSUs.  The costs are recognized over the vesting period of the RSUs or PSUs.  The total amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of RSUs or PSUs expected to vest at 
each reporting date.  The corresponding credit for these costs is recognized in contributed surplus. 
 

(iii) DSUs 
DSUs awarded to non-executive directors will be settled in equity and are measured at the fair value 
which is determined based on the closing stock price of the Company at the grant date.  The total 
amount is recognized as an expense at the grant date with the corresponding credit recognized in 
contributed surplus. 
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(o) Operating Segments 

With the decision to restart operations at the Kiena Mine, the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) 
is now reviewing the operating results, assessing performance and making capital allocation decisions 
at the individual mine site level.  As a result, the Company has presented segment information in these 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Company operates in one industry segment, the gold mining and related activities industry 
including exploration, extraction, processing and decommissioning.  All of the Company’s operations 
are located within one geographical area. 
 

(p) Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share (“Basic EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net earnings available to common 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  
Diluted earnings per share (“Diluted EPS”) is calculated using the treasury method of calculating the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding.  The treasury method assumes that 
outstanding stock options with an average exercise price below the market price of the underlying 
shares are exercised and the assumed proceeds are used to repurchase common shares of the 
Company at the average price of the common shares for the period.   

 
(q) Foreign Currency Translation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional 
currency of the Company and all subsidiaries.  The functional currency has remained unchanged during 
the reporting periods for all subsidiaries of the Company. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items using year-end 
exchange rates are recognized in the income statement. 
 
Non-monetary items, if any, measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date of the transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when fair value was determined. 
 

(r) Comparative Figures 
Certain figures for the year ended and as at December 31, 2020 have been reclassified to be consistent 
with the current year’s presentation. 

 
5. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosures at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 
 
Critical Judgment in Applying Accounting Policies 
Exploration and evaluation costs 

Judgment is required in determining whether the respective costs are eligible for capitalization where 
applicable, and whether they are likely to be recoverable by future exploration and development, which 
may be based on assumptions about future events and circumstances.  Estimates and assumptions 
made may change if new information becomes available. 
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
(i) Reserves and resources 

Proven and probable reserves are the economically mineable parts of the Company’s measured and 
indicated mineral resources that have been incorporated into the mine plan.  The Company estimates 
its proven and probable reserves and measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources based on 
information compiled by appropriately qualified persons.  The information relating to the geological data 
on the size, depth and shape of the ore body requires complex geological judgments to interpret the 
data.  The estimation of future cash flows related to proven and probable reserves is based upon factors 
such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and 
production costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and 
grade of the ore body. 

 
Changes in the proven and probable reserves or measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources 
estimates may impact the carrying value of mining properties and equipment, depletion, impairment 
assessments and the timing of decommissioning and remediation obligations. 

 
(ii) Depletion 

Mining properties are depleted using the UOP method over a period not to exceed the estimated life of 
the ore body based on recoverable ounces to be mined from proven and probable reserves. 

 
The calculation of the UOP rate, and therefore the annual depletion expense, could be materially 
affected by changes in the underlying estimates.  Changes in estimates can be the result of actual 
future production differing from current forecasts of future production, expansion of mineral reserves 
through exploration activities, differences between estimated and actual costs of mining and differences 
in the gold price used in the estimation of mineral reserves. 

 
Significant judgment is involved in the determination of useful life and residual values for the 
computation of depletion and no assurance can be given that actual useful lives and residual values 
will not differ significantly from current assumptions. 

 
(iii) Provision for decommissioning obligations 

The Company assesses its provision for decommissioning on an annual basis or when new material 
information becomes available.  Mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and 
regulations governing the protection of the environment.  In general, these laws and regulations are 
continually changing and the Company has made, and intends to make in the future, expenditures to 
comply with such laws and regulations.  Accounting for decommissioning obligations requires 
management to make estimates of the future costs the Company will incur to complete the 
decommissioning work required to comply with existing laws and regulations applicable to each mining 
operation.  Also, future changes to environmental laws and regulations could increase the extent of 
decommissioning work required to be performed by the Company.  Increases in future costs could 
materially impact the amounts charged to operations for decommissioning.  The provision represents 
management’s best estimate of the present value of the future decommissioning obligation.  Actual 
future expenditures may differ from the amounts currently provided. 
 

(iv) Stock-based compensation 
The determination of the fair value of stock-based compensation is not based on historical cost, but is 
derived based on subjective assumptions input into an option pricing model.  The model requires that 
management make forecasts as to future events, including estimates of the average future hold period 
of issued stock options before exercise, expiry or cancellation; future volatility of the Company’s share 
price in the expected hold period (using historical volatility as a reference); and the appropriate risk-free 
rate of interest.  Stock-based compensation incorporates an expected forfeiture rate and is estimated 
based on historical forfeitures and expectations of future forfeitures, and is adjusted if the actual 
forfeiture rate differs from the expected rate. 
 
The resulting value calculated is not necessarily the value that the holder of the option could receive in 
an arm’s length transaction, given that there is no market for the options and they are not transferable.  
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It is management’s view that the value derived is highly subjective and dependent entirely upon the 
input assumptions made. 
 

(v) Income taxes and deferred taxes 
The Company is subject to income tax laws in various jurisdictions.  Tax laws are complex and 
potentially subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and the relevant tax authority.  The 
provision for income taxes and deferred tax represents management's interpretation of the relevant tax 
laws and its estimate of current and future income tax implications of the transactions and events during 
the period.  The Company may be required to change its provision for income taxes or deferred tax 
balances when the ultimate deductibility of certain items is successfully challenged by taxing authorities 
or if estimates used in determining the amount of deferred tax asset to be recognized changes 
significantly, or when receipt of new information indicates the need for adjustment in the amount of 
deferred tax to be recognized.  Additionally, future events, such as changes in tax laws, tax regulations, 
or interpretations of such laws or regulations, could have an impact on the provision for income tax, 
deferred tax balances and the effective tax rate.  Any such changes could materially affect the amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements in the year these changes occur. 

 
Judgment is required to continually assess changing tax interpretations, regulations and legislation, to 
ensure liabilities are complete and to ensure assets are realizable.  The impact of different 
interpretations and applications could be material. 

 
(vi) Recoverability of mining properties 

The Company’s management reviews the carrying values of its mining properties on a regular basis to 
determine whether any write-downs are necessary.  The recovery of amounts recorded for mining 
properties depends on confirmation of the Company’s interest in the underlying mineral claims, the 
ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development, and future 
profitable production or proceeds from the disposition thereof.  Management relies on life-of-mine 
(“LOM”) plans in its assessments of economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefit.  
LOM plans provide an economic model to support the economic extraction of reserves and resources.  
A long-term LOM plan and supporting geological model identifies the drilling and related development 
work required to expand or further define the existing ore body. 
 

(vii) Inventory – ore stockpile 
Expenditures incurred and depletion of assets used in mining and processing activities are deferred 
and accumulated as the cost of ore maintained in stockpiles.  These deferred amounts are carried at 
the lower of cost or NRV.  Impairments of ore in stockpiles resulting from NRV impairments are 
reported as a component of current period costs. 
 
The allocation of costs to ore in stockpiles and the determination of NRV involve the use of estimates.  
There is a significant degree of uncertainty in estimating future milling costs, future milling levels, 
prevailing and long-term gold and silver prices, and the ultimate estimated recovery for ore. 

 
(viii)  Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Judgments are made as to whether a past event has led to a liability that should be recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements or disclosed as a contingent liability.  Quantifying any such liability 
often involves judgments and estimations.  These judgments are based on a number of factors 
including the nature of the claims or dispute, the legal process and potential amount payable, legal 
advice received, past experience and the probability of a loss being realized.  Several of these factors 
are sources of estimation uncertainty. 
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6.  ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
New standards and interpretations 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment- Proceeds Before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)  
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published ‘Property, plant and equipment 
’Proceeds Before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)’ regarding proceeds from selling items produced 
while bringing an asset into the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.  
 
Amendment to IAS 16 amends the standard to prohibit deducting from cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an 
entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit or 
loss. Amendment to IAS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early 
application is permitted. The Company adopted this standard early beginning from reporting periods on or 
after January 1, 2021. The early adoption of this standard resulted in revenue of $36,620,000 and cost of 
sales of $19,641,000 being recognized in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
New Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted  
 
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to 
IFRS 1 and IAS 12) 
The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards and IAS 12 Income Taxes which clarify that the initial recognition exemption set out in IAS 12 
does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The 
aim of the amendments is to reduce diversity in the reporting of deferred tax on leases and 
decommissioning obligations. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of this amendment has not 
yet been determined. 
 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1)  
The IASB has published Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) 
which clarifies the guidance on whether a liability should be classified as either current or non-current. The 
amendments: 
 • clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should only be based on rights that are 
in place "at the end of the reporting period"  
• clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to 
defer settlement of a liability 
• make clear that settlement includes transfers to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets 
or services that result in extinguishment of the liability.  
 
This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application 
is permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of this amendment has not yet been determined. 

 
7.  SALE OF MOSS LAKE EXPLORATION PROPERTIES 
 
On May 31, 2021, Wesdome closed the sale of the Moss Lake Project (the “Project”) located in Ontario, 
Canada (the “Transaction”) with Goldshore.  Goldshore acquired all of Wesdome’s property, assets and 
rights related to Moss Lake and holds a 100% interest in Moss Lake. An after-tax gain on disposal of 
$30,210,000 has been recognized. 
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, which assumes the exercise of the royalty buyback, Wesdome will 
receive initial aggregate total consideration of $57,100,000, comprised of the following: 
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 $12,500,000 in cash upon closing (received); 
 

 30,085,000 Goldshore common shares acquired through Wesdome’s wholly-owned subsidiary 
Moss Lake Gold Mines Ltd. (“Moss Lake”), having an initial aggregate value of $19,600,000 
(received) based on the closing bid price of Goldshore share on May 31 and representing 30% 
of the issued and outstanding common shares of Goldshore following completion of the 
Transaction on a non-diluted basis; 

 
 $20,000,000 in shares of Goldshore in the form of milestone payments consisting of: 

o Within 12 months from the closing date, such number of shares as is equal to $5,000,000 
divided by the greater of $0.60 and the VWAP of Goldshore shares for twenty trading days 
prior to the date of issuance; 

 
o such number of shares as is equal to $7,500,000 divided by the greater of $0.60 and the 

VWAP of Goldshore shares for twenty trading days prior to the date of issuance upon the 
earlier of (i) Goldshore completing an updated PEA or pre-feasibility study; and (ii) 30 
months from closing; 

 
o such number of shares as is equal to $7,500,000 divided by the greater of $0.60 and the 

VWAP of Goldshore shares for twenty trading days prior to the date of issuance upon the 
earlier of (i) Goldshore completing a feasibility study, (ii) the date on which Goldshore 
makes a development decision on Moss Lake; and (iii) 48 months from closing; 

 
 The grant to Wesdome of a 1.00% net smelter return royalty on all metal production from Moss 

Lake. Goldshore shall have the right to repurchase the net smelter return royalty for: 
o Within 30 months of closing, $3,000,000 in cash and such number of shares as is equal to 

$2,000,000 divided by the greater of $0.60 and the VWAP of Goldshore shares for fifteen  
trading days prior to the date of issuance; 

o Between 30 – 48 months from closing, $5,500,000 in cash and such number of shares as 
is equal to $2,000,000 divided by the greater of $0.60 and the VWAP of Goldshore shares 
for fifteen  trading days prior to the date of issuance. 
 
The royalty buyback rights shall expire if not exercised within 48 months of closing. 

 
Refer to Note 10 for details on the accounting of the consideration to be received.  The following table 
details the gain on sale of the Moss Lake exploration properties. 
 

 
 
The Company has not assigned a value to the net smelter return royalty. 
 
The Company has recorded the investment in Goldshore using the equity method (Note 17). 
 
 
 
 
 

 

May 31, 2021

Carrying value of Moss Lake exploration properties 10,329$       

Cash received 12,500         

Value of Goldshore shares received 19,555         

Share consideration receivable 13,342         

Expenses incurred during transaction (738)

Before tax gain on sale of Moss Lake exploration properties 34,330$       

Details of gain on sale of Moss Lake transaction
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8.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Company considers each of its mine sites as reportable segments for financial reporting purposes. 
Wesdome’s CODM, its President and Chief Executive Officer, reviews the operating results, assesses 
performance and makes capital allocation decisions at the mine sites and corporate office.  Segment 
performance is evaluated based upon a number of measures including operating income before tax, 
production levels and unit production costs. 
 
The Company has not presented comparative information as the decision to restart operations at the Kiena 
Mine was made in May 2021.   
 
 

 
 
 
9. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAIDS 
 

 
 
  

Eagle River 
mine

Kiena mine
Corporate 
and other

Total

Revenues 226,287$    36,620$      -  $              262,907$    
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and depletion (98,565) (18,988)  -  (117,553)

Gross profit excluding depreciation 127,722 17,632  -  145,354

Depreciation (27,193) (653) (220) (28,066)

Impairment reversal  -  58,563  -  58,563

Gain on sale of exploration property  -   -  34,330 34,330

Other (439) (114) (21,303) (21,856)

Segment income before taxes 100,090$    75,428$      12,807$      188,325$    

Income and mining tax expense (57,037) (57,037)

Net income and total comprehensive income 131,288$    

Eagle River 
mine

Kiena mine
Corporate 
and other

Total

Total assets 187,976$    292,761$    72,983$      553,719$    

Total liabilities 29,692$      27,407$      101,445$    158,544$    

Year ended December 31, 2021

As at December 31, 2021

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

Sales tax receivable 5,802$           4,731$           

Vendor deposits 1,778             1,004

Prepayments to vendors 4,146             1,826

Receivables and other 2,067 1,413

  13,793$          8,974$           
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10. SHARE CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE 
 
The Company has recorded the share consideration receivable from Goldshore under the terms disclosed in 
Note 7.  The following table summarizes the change in the carrying amount of the Company’s share 
consideration receivable. 
 

 
 
 
To measure the share consideration receivable, each milestone payment is measured using the Monte 
Carlo simulation method.  Management assumed that the payments would be made at 5 months, 23 months 
and 41 months from the financial statement date for the respective milestones.  The Company’s share 
consideration receivable is measured at FVTPL. See Note 31 for details regarding the calculation of the 
Company’s share consideration receivable. 
 
11. INVENTORIES 

 
 

(i) Gold in process inventory consists of both gold doré and gold in process that are awaiting the 
completion of the final refining process into saleable gold, expected within one month of the 
financial statement date. 

(ii) As at December 31, 2021, gold in process inventory includes Eagle, Mishi and Kiena inventory 
carried at cost of $7,008,000, $61,000 and $4,587,000, respectively.  As at December 31, 2020, 
gold in process inventory includes Eagle, Mishi and Kiena inventory carried at cost of $6,232,000, 
$74,000 and $480,000, respectively. 

(iii) As at December 31, 2021, ore stockpile inventory includes Eagle, Mishi and Kiena inventory 
carried at cost of $487,000, $1,467,000 and $58,000 respectively.  As at December 31, 2020, ore 
stockpile inventory includes Eagle, Mishi and Kiena inventory carried at cost of $854,000, 
$1,715,000 and $45,000 respectively. 
 

The amount of inventory recognized as an expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 is $116,078,000 
(2020: $88,712,000) and is included in cost of sales (Note 26). 
 
 
  

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

Balance, beginning of period  -$                 -$               

Share consideration receivable recognized during the period 13,342            -                     

Fair value adjustment 1,947              -                     

Balance, end of period 15,289            -                     

Less: Current portion 4,560              -                     

Long-term portion  10,729$           -$               

Notes
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020

Gold in process 11(i), (ii) 11,656$          6,786$            
Supplies  4,250              3,051
Ore stockpiles 11(iii) 2,012              2,614

17,918$          12,451$          
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12. RESTRICTED CASH 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

Cash deposit related to a mine closure plan (Note 20) 27$                27$                
Cash pledged to a bank related to a letter of credit 630 630

657$               657$               
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13. MINING PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  

 

 

(i) Eagle River Complex 

The Eagle River Complex consists of the Eagle River Mine, the Mishi Mine and the Eagle River Mill and all related infrastructure and equipment. 
The Eagle River Mine is subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty. 
 
(ii) Kiena Mine Complex 

The Kiena Mine Complex consists of the Kiena Mine concession, Kiena Mill, related infrastructure, equipment and land position in the Township of Dubuisson, Quebec.  The Kiena 
Mine is not subject to any underlying royalties. 
 
 

Company Owned Assets Right-of-use assets

Mining properties Plant & equipment  Plant & equipment  

Total

Gross Carrying Amount

 Balance, December 31, 2019 176,844$                    35,201$              212,045$              25,174$                     562$                111$              25,847$              237,892$              10,981$                     152$                787$              11,920$              249,812$              

 Additions 23,672                       -                        23,672                 4,351                         486                  -                    4,837                 28,509                 6,718                         (81)                   -                    6,637                 35,146                 
 Transfer from exploration properties 1,566                         -                        1,566                   -                                -                      -                    -                        1,566                   -                                -                      -                    -                        1,566                   
 Write-down of equipment -                                -                        -                          (2,536)                        -                      -                    (2,536)                (2,536)                  -                                -                      -                    -                        (2,536)                  
 Balance, December 31, 2020 202,082$                    35,201$              237,283$              26,989$                     1,048$              111$              28,148$              265,431$              17,699$                     71$                  787$              18,557$              283,988$              

 
 Additions 29,522                       -                        29,522                 11,817                       -                      -                    11,817               41,339                 11,597                       -                      -                    11,597               52,936                 
 Transfer from exploration properties 982                            -                        982                      -                                -                      40                 40                      1,022                   -                                -                      -                    -                        1,022                   
 Transfer (29,213)                      (2,218)                (31,431)                29,213                       2,218               -                    31,431               -                          -                                -                      -                    -                        -                          
 Write-down of equipment -                                -                        -                          (711)                           -                      -                    (711)                   (711)                     -                                -                      -                    -                        (711)                     
 Reversal of impairment charges -                                56,292               56,292                 -                                2,271               -                    2,271                 58,563                 -                                -                      -                    -                        58,563                 
 Balance, December 31, 2021 203,373$                    89,275$              292,648$              67,308$                     5,537$              151$              72,996$              365,644$              29,296$                     71$                  787$              30,154$              395,798$              

 Accumulated Depletion and write-downs 

 Balance, December 31, 2019 79,923$                     35,201$              115,124$              17,643$                     441$                46$               18,130$              133,254$              (497)$                         51$                  239$              (207)$                 133,047$              

 Depletion 17,390                       -                        17,390                 3,757                         134                  -                    3,891                 21,281                 2,954                         (42)                   187               3,099                 24,380                 

 Write-down of equipment -                                -                        -                          (2,109)                        -                      -                    (2,109)                (2,109)                  -                                -                      -                    -                        (2,109)                  
 Balance, December 31, 2020 97,313$                     35,201$              132,514$              19,291$                     575$                46$               19,912$              152,426$              2,457$                       9$                    426$              2,892$               155,318$              

 Depletion 17,759                       -                        17,759                 5,192                         811                  -                    6,003                 23,762                 4,747                         -                      188               4,935                 28,697                 
 Transfer (14,126)                      (2,218)                (16,344)                14,126                       2,218               30                 16,374               30                        - -                      - -                        30                        
 Write-down of equipment -                                -                        -                          (641)                           -                      -                    (641)                   (641)                     -                                -                      -                    -                        (641)                     
 Balance, December 31, 2021 100,946$                    32,983$              133,929$              37,968$                     3,604$              76$               41,648$              175,577$              7,204$                       9$                    614$              7,827$               183,404$              

 Net carrying amount, 

December 31, 2020 104,769$                    -$                      104,769$              7,698$                       473$                65$               8,236$               113,005$              15,242$                     62$                  361$              15,665$              128,670$              

December 31, 2021 102,427$                    56,292$              158,719$              29,340$                     1,933$              75$               31,348$              190,067$              22,092$                     62$                  173$              22,327$              212,394$              

Kiena Complex Corporate  Grand total Eagle River Complex Kiena Complex Sub-total Eagle River Complex Kiena Complex Corporate Sub-total Total Eagle River Complex
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14. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT 
 
When Kiena was placed on care and maintenance in 2012, an impairment charge of $60,900,000 was 
recorded.  Subsequently, an additional impairment charge of $5,900,000 was recorded.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded reversals of previous impairment charges of 
$56,292,000 related to mining properties and $2,271,000 related to property, plant and equipment.  The 
reversal of previously recorded impairment charges adjusts the assets’ carrying values to the value 
immediately before the initial impairment. 
 
These reversals are a result of the decision to restart operations based on the positive results of the 
completed preliminary feasibility study at the Kiena Mine.  A preliminary feasibility study was completed and 
the decision to restart operations was made in May 2021. 
 
 
15. MINES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 
 
As a result of the decision to restart operations at the Kiena Mine based on the positive results of the 
completed preliminary feasibility study, the Company reclassified the Kiena Mine from exploration 
properties to mines under development in Q2 2021.  As required, the Company performed an impairment 
test upon reclassification to mines under development.  No impairment was noted. 
 
The following table summarizes the change in the carrying amount of the Company’s mines under 
development. 
 

 
  
 
16. EXPLORATION PROPERTIES 
 

 
 

 

Company Owned Assets
Right-of-use 

assets
Mines under 
development

Plant & 
equipment Sub-total

Plant & 
equipment

Grand total

Balance, December 31, 2020 -  $                 -  $                -  $                    -  $                    -  $                   
Transfer from exploration properties 137,531 -                     137,531 -                         137,531
Additions 17,383 58,812 76,195 363 76,558
Balance, December 31, 2021 154,914$       58,812$        213,726$          363$                214,089$         

Kiena Moss Lake Mishi/Eagle

Note Group Group Group Total

Balance, December 31, 2019 3 74,024$          10,228$          12,089$          96,341$         

Exploration expenditures 44,004           84                 - 44,088           

Gold revenue from bulk sample (3,608)           - - (3,608)            

Write-down of Magnacon exploration property - - (2,034)           (2,034)            

Transfer to mineral properties - - (1,566)           (1,566)            

Balance, December 31, 2020 114,420$        10,312$          8,489$            133,221$       

Exploration expenditures 27,155$         17$               -  $                 27,172$         

Purchase of exploration property 1,000  -   -  1,000             

Impairment charge on Windarra exploration property  -   -  (3,113)           (3,113)            

Impairment charge on Mishi exploration property  -   -  (4,394)           (4,394)            

Gold revenue from bulk sample (3,905)            -   -  (3,905)            

Sale of Moss Lake exploration properties  -  (10,329)           -  (10,329)          

Transfer to mineral properties  -   -  (982) (982)              

Transfer to mines under development (137,531)         -   -  (137,531)        

Balance, December 31, 2021 1,139$           -  $                 -  $                 1,139$           
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The following table summarizes the Net Smelter Royalties (“NSR”), Gross Metal Royalties (“GMR”), Net 
Operating Profit royalty (“NOP”) and Net Profit Royalty (“NPR”) which would become payable in the event 
the Company operates its exploration properties.  
 

Property Description  Location  Royalty 
Wesdome Property  Quebec  1% NSR 

Tarmac Property  Quebec  1% GMR 

Shawkey South  Quebec  1% NSR 

Siscoe Property  Quebec  3.5% NSR 

Siscoe Extension Property  Quebec  3.5% NSR 

Lamothe Property  Quebec  1% NSR 

Callahan Property  Quebec  1% NSR 

Yankee Clipper Property  Quebec  2% NPR 

Audet Block  Quebec  2% NSR 

Elmac  Quebec  2% NOP 

Kiena West  Quebec  1% NSR 

Maufort  Quebec  10% NPR 

Rosenbaum  Quebec  2% NSR 

Roy Option  Quebec  $0.25 per tonne milled 

Magnacon  Ontario  1.5% NSR 

Magnacon East  Ontario  2% NSR 

 

 
17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE 
 
Details of the Company's investment in associate as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are as 
follows: 

 Percentage Ownership Carrying amount 

Associate name December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Goldshore Resources Inc. 26% 0%  $  19,058  $   -    

 
The following table summarizes the change in the carrying amount of the Company’s investment in 
associate. 

  
 
 
The fair value of the Company’s ownership interest in Goldshore, based on the quoted market price as at 
December 31, 2021 (Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy) is $19,555,000. 
 
Goldshore became an associate of the Company on May 31, 2021. As such the Company has recognized 
only its share of Goldshore’s loss and comprehensive loss for the period from of June 1, 2021 to December 
31, 2021. The Company’s ownership percentage was reduced from 30% to 26% as at December 31, 2021 
resulting from changes in Goldshore’s equity structure during the year.  
 

Goldshore 
Resources Inc.

Balance, December 31, 2020 -  $                           

Initial amount recognized upon acquisition 19,555

Share of loss of associate (497)

Balance, December 31, 2021 19,058$                   
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The assets and liabilities of Goldshore are summarized in the following table which incorporates 
Goldshore's most recently available financial information at the time of preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements, which is as at September 30, 2021. 
   

  
 
 
18. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

  
 
19. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
The Company leases, with options to purchase, certain mining equipment.  Future minimum payments 
under finance leases are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 30, 2021

Current assets 10,498$                   

Non-current assets 54,537

Total assets 65,035                     

Current liabilities 1,496                       

Non-current liabilities -  

Total liabilities 1,496                       

Net assets 63,539                     

Wesdome’s equity share of net assets (26%) 16,520$                   

Equity adjustments 2,538

Carrying amount 19,058$                   

Goldshore's loss and comprehensive loss for the 4 months ended September 30, 2021 1,655$                     

 
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 32,654$          15,355$          
Employee related payables 6,448 4,937
Royalties payable  991 831

40,093$          21,123$          

December 
31, 2021

December 31, 
2020

No later than one year  8,215$           6,290$             
Later than one year and no later than five years 7,036 5,778
Total minimum lease payments 15,251 12,068

Less: Interest portion at the weighted average
  interest rate of 4.64% (2020: 4.65%) 676 563

Total lease liabilities, secured by equipment 14,575 11,505
Less: Current portion 7,789 5,901
Long-term portion  6,786$          5,604$             
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Secured Credit Facility and Lease Facilities 
 
On March 29, 2021, Wesdome extended the current maturity date of the $45 million senior secured 
revolving credit facility (“NBF Facility”), led by National Bank Financial Inc. (“NBF”) from September 27, 
2022 to March 29, 2024.  During 2021, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants 
stipulated under the NBF Facility.  The NBF Facility, which will be used for general corporate and working 
capital purposes, is secured by all of the Company’s present and future real and personal property.  The 
NBF Facility is available by way of (i) Canadian dollar Prime Rate or U.S. dollar Base Rate, with interest 
rates ranging from 2.5% to 3.5% over NBF’s Prime Rate or Base Rate, as applicable, (ii) Canadian dollar 
Bankers’ Acceptances at acceptance fees ranging from 3.5% to 4.5%, and (iii) U.S. dollar LIBOR with 
interest rates ranging from 3.5% to 4.5% over LIBOR.  Upon the anticipated discontinuance of the LIBOR 
benchmark rate, amounts drawn under the NBF Facility will incur interest based on the Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or an alternate benchmark rate. The actual spread or rate will be determined 
based on the Company’s net leverage ratio (as defined).  The NBF Facility is also available for letters of 
credit. At December 31, 2021 the entire $45.0 million facility was available. 
 
On closing, the Company drew down $4,358,000 under the NBF Facility, of which $3,952,000 was used to 
repay in full the amounts owed under the Company’s $36,000,000 credit facility.  As at December 31, 2021, 
the Company incurred $342,000 in fees and expenses related to the extension of NBF Facility.  As at 
December 31, 2019, $3,636,000 was drawn under the credit facility which was repaid in the first quarter of 
2020.  No further funds have been drawn under the credit facility as of December 31, 2021. 
 
The Company currently has a leasing facility with a chartered Canadian bank and a leasing facility with a 
U.S. based leasing company.  On June 28, 2021, the C$ Leasing Facility was increased by $7.0 million.  
As at December 31, 2021, $11.6 million and USD $1.5 million was owing under the C$ Leasing Facility and 
US$ Leasing Facility, respectively. 
 
 
20. DECOMMISSIONING PROVISIONS 
 
The Company is committed to a program of environmental management and protection at its mines, 
development projects and exploration sites, in compliance with federal and provincial laws and regulations.    
The Magnacon Mine, which is located next to the Eagle River Mill, is under care and maintenance. 
 
The Company has recorded the decommissioning costs at its active and dormant mine sites on the basis 
of management’s best estimates of future costs to settle the obligations on the closing date, based on 
information available on the reporting date.  Although the ultimate amount of decommissioning costs is 
uncertain, the Company estimated its future decommissioning costs for the Eagle River Complex to be 
$16,754,340  and the Kiena Mine Complex to be $8,697,880.  The estimated costs have been discounted 
over a period of five to seven years using discount rates between 3.30% and 3.32% as at December 31, 
2021.  The Company has provided in aggregate $16,600,000 in financial assurances (Notes 20(a) and 
20(b)) for these future environmental obligations. 
 
Closure plans were submitted during Q4 2019, for the Eagle River Complex to the Ontario Ministry of 
Energy, Northern Development and Mines (“MENDM”) for approval.  The MENDM has approved the closure 
plan for the Eagle River Mill and the Mishi-Magnacon Mine. The Eagle River Mine Closure Plan is still under 
review.  The Company has obtained financial commitment from the financial institution to amend the surety 
bonds for the anticipated increase in financial assurance to be provided to the government for the estimate 
of the financial assurance requirements. 
 
In support of the restart decision of operations, the Company submitted an updated closure plan to the 
Ministère de l’Énergie et des Resources Naturelles (“MERN”) for the Kiena Mine in Q2 2021.  The plan is 
currently under review by MERN and is expected to be filed in 2022. 
 
a) Change in decommissioning provisions 
 
The following table presents the reconciliation of the aggregate carrying amount of the obligation associated 
with the retirement of mining properties: 
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As at December 31, 2020, the decommissioning provision has been increased by $473,000, with the 
corresponding increase in mining assets, resulting from the decrease in discount rates from 3.63% in 
December 2019 to 2.38% in December 2020.  As at December 31, 2021, the decommissioning provision 
has been decreased by $1,635,000, with the corresponding decrease in mining assets, resulting primarily 
from a decrease in the estimated closure costs for the Eagle River complex, and an increase in discount 
rates from 2.38% in December 2020 to 3.30% in the current year. 
 
b) Reclamation bond 

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution whereby the financial institution has issued 
unsecured surety bonds to the extent of $9,775,000 to satisfy the Company’s financial assurance 
requirements for the Eagle River Complex, and $7,027,000 to satisfy the Kiena Complex requirements.  As 
at December 31, 2021, the total reclamation bonds issued to government environmental agencies 
amounted to $16,600,000 (December 31, 2020 - $16,600,000). 
 
 
21. CAPITAL STOCK 
 
Authorized: 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par 
value. 
 

 
 
22. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Up until May 3, 2017, the Company had an equity settled common share purchase plan (the “Stock Option 
Plan”) under which the Board of Directors may grant options to purchase common shares to directors, 
officers, employees and independent contractors of the Company and/or its affiliates (collectively, the 
“Service Providers”).  The maximum aggregate number of common shares under option at any time 
pursuant to the Stock Option Plan was 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares at the time of 
the grant. 
 
On May 3, 2017, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2017 Omnibus Plan pursuant to which it 
is able to issue share-based long-term incentives.  All Service Providers are eligible to receive Awards, as 
defined below, under the 2017 Omnibus Plan.  The 2017 Omnibus Plan replaced the Company’s existing 
Stock Option Plan which remains in effect, but no further options will be issued thereunder. 
 
 

 
Eagle River 
Complex

Kiena
Complex

December 
31, 2021

December 31, 
2020

Balance, beginning of the year 15,243$      7,027$        22,270$        21,443$         

Accretion expense for the year 442 114 556 354

Changes in estimates  (1,528) (107) (1,635) 473

14,157$      7,034$        21,191$        22,270$         

Notes  Shares Amount

Issued:

Balance, December 31, 2019 137,992,453 174,789$         

Exercise of options 22 1,129,291 4,174

Exercise of RSUs 22 190,541 577

Balance, December 31, 2020 139,312,285 179,540

Exercise of options 22 2,101,218 7,585

Exercise of RSUs 22 220,043 786

Balance December 31, 2021 141,633,546 187,911$         
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Under the 2017 Omnibus Plan, the maximum number of common shares issuable from treasury pursuant 
to Awards shall not exceed 10% of the total outstanding common shares from time to time less the number 
of common shares issuable pursuant to all other security-based compensation arrangements of the 
Company (being the Stock Option Plan). 
 
On June 2, 2020, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2020 Omnibus Plan pursuant to which it 
is able to issue share-based long-term incentives.  All Service Providers are eligible to receive awards, as 
defined below, under the 2020 Omnibus Plan.  The 2020 Omnibus Plan replaced the Company’s existing 
stock option plans which remain in effect, but no further options will be issued thereunder. 
 
Under the 2020 Omnibus Plan, the maximum number of common shares issuable from treasury pursuant 
to awards shall not exceed 10% of the total outstanding common shares from time to time less the number 
of common shares issuable pursuant to all other security-based compensation arrangements of Wesdome, 
being the Stock Option Plan and the 2017 Omnibus Plan. 
 
As at December 31, 2021, Awards to purchase 11,371,000 common shares of Wesdome were available 
for grant under the 2020 Omnibus Plan. 
 
The following table reflects the continuity of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 
 

 
 
 
On March 26, 2021, the Company granted 379,934 stock options to its employees and officers, under its 
2020 Omnibus Plan.  On March 13, 2020, the Company granted 366,452 stock options to its employees 
and officers, under its 2017 Omnibus Plan.  On August 14, 2020, the Company granted 19,802 stock options 
to its officer.  All stock options granted have a three-year vesting term commencing on the anniversary date 
of the issue. 
 
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for stock options exercised during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $12.16 and $11.23, respectively. 
 
The following table outlines share options outstanding at December 31, 2021: 
 

    
 

 Weighted  Weighted
Number of average Number of average

options exercise price $ options exercise price $

Outstanding, beginning of year 3,757,621 3.40 4,513,715 2.72

Granted 379,934 8.50 386,254 8.93
Exercised (2,101,218) 2.45 (1,129,291) 2.52
Expired/Forfeited (75,789)           8.05 (13,057) 8.67

Outstanding, end of year 1,960,548 6.79 3,757,621 3.40

Years ended December 31, 
2021 2020

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Range of Number average average Number average

exercise prices outstanding remaining life exercise price outstanding exercise price

(years) $ $

1.87 - 2.20 614,696 1.23             1.96             614,696 1.96             

2.21 - 3.29 194,211 0.47             3.29             194,211 3.29             

3.30 - 5.28 482,660 2.16             5.28             297,585 5.28             

5.29 - 13.83 668,981 3.75             8.73             87,496 8.67             

1,960,548 2.24             5.22             1,193,988 3.50             

Exercisable OptionsOutstanding Options
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The following table reflects the continuity of RSUs granted for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

 
 
 
On March 26, 2021, the Company granted 82,853 RSUs to its employees and officers, under its 2020 
Omnibus Plan.  On March 13, 2020, the Company granted 89,399 RSUs to its employees and officers, 
under its 2017 Omnibus Plan.  The RSUs granted have a three-year vesting term with the first tranche 
vesting on March 26, 2022. 
 
The following table reflects the continuity of PSUs granted for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

 

 
On March 26, 2021, the Company granted 165,706 PSUs to its employees and officers, under its 2020 
Omnibus Plan.  On March 13, 2020, the Company granted 89,399 PSUs to its employees and officers, 
under its 2017 Omnibus Plan.  The PSUs granted have cliff vesting terms contingent on continued 
employment at the end of the three-year performance period. 
 
The following table reflects the continuity of DSUs granted for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 
 

 
 
 

 Weighted  Weighted
Number of average Number of average

RSUs exercise price $ RSUs exercise price $

Outstanding, beginning of year 343,210  - 444,352  -

Granted 82,853  - 89,399  -

Exercised (220,043)         8.50 (190,541) 6.97

Outstanding, end of year 206,020  - 343,210  -

Years ended December 31, 
2021 2020

 Weighted  Weighted
Number of average Number of average

PSUs exercise price $ PSUs exercise price $

Outstanding, beginning of year 89,399  - -  -

Granted 165,706  - 89,399  -

Exercised  -  - -  -
Outstanding, end of year 255,105  - 89,399  -

Years ended December 31, 
2021 2020

 Weighted  Weighted
Number of average Number of average

DSUs exercise price $ DSUs exercise price $

Outstanding, beginning of year 315,031  - 249,232  -

Granted 55,960  - 65,799  -
Redeemed  -  -  -  -
Outstanding, end of year 370,991  - 315,031  -

Years ended December 31, 
2021 2020
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On June 1, 2021, the Company granted 55,960 DSUs to its non-management board members, under its 
2020 Omnibus Plan.  On June 3, 2020, the Company granted 65,799 DSUs to its non-management board 
members, under its 2020 Omnibus Plan.  All of the DSUs are fully vested at the grant date and become 
payable upon retirement of the directors. 
 
The fair value of the stock options, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs awarded to employees and officers that will 
eventually vest, determined as of the date of grant, is recognized as share-based compensation expense 
over the vesting period of the equity instruments, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus.  The 
fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with market related 
inputs as of the date of grant and the fair value of RSUs, PSUs and DSUs is the market value of the 
underlying shares as of the date of grant. 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, grant date fair value estimates were based on the 
following variables: 
 

                 Years ended December 31, 

 2021 2020

 
Weighted average fair value, per option ($) 3.42 2.46
Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 0.47 0.50
Weighted average volatility (%)  56.63 56
Expected life (years)  3.0 3.0
Forfeiture rate (%) 7.8 9.5

 
 
The fair value compensation and contributed surplus relating to stock options, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs for 
the year ended December 31, 2021 was $2,604,000 (2020: $2,786,000). 
 
 
23. INCOME TAXES 
 
Deferred tax liability arising from temporary differences and unused tax losses are summarized as follows: 
 
 

 
 

January 1, 
2021

Recognized 
in Retained 

Earnings

Opening 
Balance 

Adjustment

Temporary 
Differences 

Recognized in the 
Year

Recognized in Profit 
and Loss

December 31, 
2021

(Note 3) (Note 3)

Unclaimed non-capital losses and capital losses (1)$              -$              265$                     1$                            265$               
Investment tax credit 75               -            -               50                        5                              130$               
Inventory (473)            -            -               -                       (166)                         (639)$              
Unclaimed SR&ED expense 119             -            -               -                       (2)                             117$               
Deductible reclamation costs 5,584          -            -               -                       (262)                         5,322$            
Unclaimed financing costs (3)                -            -               -                       22                            19$                 
Ontario resource profit tax credit 1,053          -            -               -                       5                              1,058$            
IFRS 16 liability 2,379          -            (129)              -                       1,280                        3,530$            
Fixed Assets (44,303)       2,587        (383)              1,893                    (34,766)                     (74,972)$         
Stock compensation 1,129          -            -               -                       172                           1,301$            
CMT credit 3,031          -            (151)              -                       2,739                        5,619$            
Mining Tax (5,944)         1,235        (295)              -                       (9,628)                       (14,632)$         
Investment -              -            -               -                       (4,313)                       (4,313)$           
Net deferred tax asset (37,354)$     3,822$      (958)$            2,208$                  (44,913)$                   (77,195)$         

Deferred income tax liability (29,420)$     (57,654)$         
Deferred mining tax liability (7,934)         (19,541)           
Net deferred tax liability (37,354)$     (77,195)$         
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The following table reconciles the expected income tax (expense)/recovery at the combined Federal and 
provincial statutory income tax rate 25.11% (2020: 25.06%) to the amounts recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 1, 
2020

Opening 
balance 

adjustment

Recognized 
in profit and 

loss 31-Dec-20

Unclaimed non-capital losses 2,169$          -$                (2,170)$          (1)$           

Investment tax credit 69 6  - 75

Inventory (997) 32 492 (473)

Unclaimed SR&ED expense 119   -     -   119

Deductible reclamation costs 5,374 1 209 5,584

Unclaimed financing costs 31   -   (34) (3)

Ontario resource profit tax credit 1,052   -   1 1,053

IFRS 16 Liability   -   1,680 699 2,379

Mining properties, plant and equipment (25,983) (1,832) (16,488) (44,303)

Stock-based compensation   -   748 381 1,129

CMT credit   -   1,009 2,022 3,031

Mining tax (5,663) (146) (135) (5,944)

Net deferred tax liability (23,829)$        1,498$             (15,023)$         (37,354)$   

Deferred income tax liability (16,272)$        (29,420)$   

Deferred mining tax liability (7,557) (7,934)

Net deferred tax liability (23,829)$        (37,354)$   

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Income before mining and income taxes 188,325$      74,900$            

Expected income tax expense 47,292          18,769              
Other permanent differences (5,323)           (1,813)               
Derecognition of deferred tax asset (2,202)           -                    
Mining Taxes 17,257          7,968                
Rate Change (60)               (21)                    
Other 73                 (718)                  

Income and mining tax expense 57,037$        24,185$            
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24. NET EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
 

 
 
25. REVENUES  

 
 
26. COST OF SALES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 2020

Earnings available to common shareholders 131,288$        50,715$          

Weighted average number of shares, basic (000s) 140,195 139,045

Dilutive securities – options and RSU (000s) 2,592 3,524

Weighted average number of shares, diluted (000s) 142,787 142,569

Basic earnings per share $0.94 $0.36

Diluted earnings per share $0.92 $0.36

Number of shares excluded from diluted earnings -                 -

  per share calculation due to anti-dilutive effect

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Revenues from mining operations
  Gold 262,625$        215,294$        
  Silver 282                172

262,907$        215,466$        

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Mining and processing

  Mining 61,636$          43,091$          

  Processing 20,291 18,457

  Site administration and camp costs 34,151 27,164

  Change in inventories 1 (2,921) 6,315

113,157 95,027

Royalties 4,396 4,013

Depletion and depreciation 28,066 26,346

145,619$        125,386$        

(1) Change in inventories
   Ore stock pile inventory 1,592$           5,914$           

   Bullion and in-circuit inventory (4,513) 401

(2,921)$          6,315$           

Years Ended December 31,
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27. INTEREST AND OTHER 
 
(a) Interest expense 

 
 
(b) Other income/(expense) 

 
 
28. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes
2021 2020

Interest on lease liabilities 19 591$               531$               
Premium on reclamation bonds 180                117                
Interest on secured credit facility 423                448                

1,194$            1,096$            

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Interest income 310$               397$               
Foreign exchange loss (98)                 (874)               
Amortization of deferred financing cost (412)               (370)               
Other expense (163)               (258)               

(363)$             (1,105)$           

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 50,083$          37,844$          
Long-term benefits 555                558
Stock-based compensation 2,604              2,786

53,242$          41,188$          

Allocation of employee benefits
Salaries and employee benefits expensed to mining
    and processing expenses 45,393$          33,035$          
Salaries and benefits expensed to regional exploration 203                  -   
Salaries and employee benefits capitalized to mining properties 2,886              3,125
Salaries and employee benefits capitalized to mines under
    development 4,760                -   

Salaries and employee benefits capitalized to exploration and 

    evaluation -                 5,028

53,242$          41,188$          

Years Ended December 31,
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29. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION 
 
Key management of the Company are its Board of Directors and members of executive management.  Key 
management personnel remuneration includes the following payments: 
 
 

 
 
30. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
  

 
 
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair Values 
 
Following is a table which sets out the fair values of recognized financial instruments using the valuation 
methods and assumptions described below: 
 

2021 2020

Salaries, director fees and short-term employee benefits 4,833$           4,880$           

Stock-based compensation 2,255             2,449

Long-term benefits 60                  53

7,148$           7,382$           

Years Ended December 31,

Notes 2021 2020

Net changes in non-cash working capital
Operating activities
  Accounts receivable and prepaids (4,174)$          (2,045)$          
  Payables and accruals 17,014           (593)
  Mining and income tax payable 13,374           10,659           
  Gold in process and ore stockpiles (3,612)            5,789             
  Supplies and other (1,199)            (538)

21,403$          13,272$          

Investing activities
 Accounts receivable and prepaids (736)$              (1,589)$          
 Payables and accruals 1,958             2,497             

1,222$           908$              

Non-cash transactions
Change to decommissioning provisions 20 (1,635)$          473$              
Assets acquired under finance leases 11,960           6,718             

10,325$          7,191$           

Years Ended December 31,
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The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables and payables approximate their carrying 
amounts due to their short-term nature.  Marketable securities are measured using quoted prices in active 
markets which are considered Level 1 inputs. The value of the share consideration receivable is calculated 
using the following Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 assumptions.  
 

 
 
The following table presents the potential impact to the Company’s net income to changes in the expected 
volatility  
 
 

 
 
The fair value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value: 
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 

 Level 2 inputs are quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 
liability, or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data or 
other means. 
 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity). 
 
 
Financial Instrument and Related Risks 
 
1) Market Risk 

 
 

Carrying amount Estimated fair value Carrying amount Estimated fair value

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $      56,764 $      56,764 $      63,480 $      63,480
Accounts receivable 747 747 2,481 2,481
Share consideration receivable 15,289 15,289 - -
Marketable securities 1,860 1,860 - -

$      74,660    $      74,660 $      65,961    $      65,961

Financial Liabilities
  Payables and accruals $      40,093 $      40,093 $      21,123 $      21,123

At December 31, 2021 At December 31, 2020

Type Valuation Technique Key Inputs
Inter-Relationship Between 
Significant Inputs and Fair Value 
Measurements

Share consideration 
receivable - short term 
and long term

The fair value of the 
share consideration 
receivable has been 
calculated using the 
Monte Carlo 
simulation method

Key observable inputs (Level 1)
-stock price at December 31, 2021: 
$0.65 per share

Key observable inputs (Level 2)
-Risk free interest rate: 0.52% - 
1.17%
-Dividend yield: 0%

Key unobservable inputs (Level 3)
-Volatility - 48.65%

The estimated fair value would 
increase (decrease) if:
-The share price was higher (lower)
-The dividend yield was lower 
(higher)
-The volatility was lower (higher)

Increase Decrease
Expected volatility (10% movement vs. the model input) (1,074)$       1,027$      

Net income and Total Comprehensive Income
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 Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from possible market price movements and their impact on 
the future performance of the business.  The market price movements that could adversely affect the 
value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities include commodity price risk, foreign currency 
exchange risk and interest rate risk. 

 
(a) Commodity price risk 

 
 The Company’s financial performance is closely linked to the price of gold which is impacted by 

world economic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand.  The Company had no gold 
price hedge contracts in place as at or during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
(b) Foreign currency exchange risk 

 
 The Company’s revenue is exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates as the Company’s 

primary product, gold, is priced in U.S. dollars.  The Company had no forward exchange rate 
contracts in place as at or during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of pre-tax earnings and equity in relation to fluctuations 
in the U.S. dollar denominated gold price for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, with 
all other variables being constant.  These percentages have been determined based on the 
average market volatility in gold price as quoted by the London Market Bullion Association in the 
preceding 12 months. 
 

 Sensitivity analysis Change Impact on net earnings 

2021 +/- 10% $ 26,263 
2020 +/- 10% $ 21,529 

 
(c) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  Financial assets with variable interest rates expose the 
Company to cash flow interest rate risk.  The Company’s cash has in the past included highly liquid 
investments that earn interest at market rates.  Fluctuations in market rates of interest do not have 
a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations due to the short-term to maturity of the 
investments held. 
 

2) Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due.  The 
Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated investing 
and financing activities.  The Company believes it has access to sufficient capital through internally 
generated cash flows and equity and debt capital markets.  Executive management is also actively 
involved in the review and approval of planned expenditures. 
 
The following table shows the timing of cash outflows relating to payables and accruals, finance leases 
and other financial obligations as at December 31, 2021: 
 

 
 
1 The Company anticipates to finance $948,000 of the outstanding purchase commitments as at 

December 31, 2021 with finance leases. 

<1 Year 1-2 Years 3-5 Years Over 5 Years

Payables and accruals 40,093$           -  $                     -  $                      -  $                        
Income and mining taxes payable 5,490  -   -   -  
Lease liabilities 8,215 4,750 2,286  -  

Purchase commitments 1
39,292  -   -   -  

Decommissioning provisions  -   -   -  25,452
Total 93,090$           4,750$              2,286$             25,452$                
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3) Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligation.  The Company minimizes its credit risk by selling its 
gold exclusively to financial institutions.  The Company’s receivables consist of consideration receivable 
from its associate, government refunds and credits and advances to vendors on projects at the mines. 
 

 The Company estimates its maximum exposure to be the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents 
and receivables.  The Company manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents and receivables 
by maintaining bank accounts and term deposits with Schedule 1 Canadian banks.  The Company’s 
cash is not subject to any external limitations.  The Company limits risk on its consideration receivable 
by entering into business arrangements with highly rated counterparties. 

 
Capital Risk Management 
 
The Company’s capital management objectives are intended to safeguard its ability to support normal 
operating requirements on an ongoing objectives basis, continue the development and exploration of its 
mineral properties and support any expansionary plans. 
 
 
The capital of the Company consists of items included in equity net of cash and cash equivalents: 
 

 
 
32. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
On January 1, 2022, the Company amalgamated its two wholly owned subsidiaries Moss Lake Gold Mines 
Ltd. and Windarra Minerals Ltd. with Wesdome Gold Mines Ltd.  The Company does not anticipate any 
material changes to its operations as a result of the amalgamation.  
 

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

(Note 3)

Total equity 395,175$        256,369$        
Cash and cash equivalents (56,764)           (63,480)          
Capital 338,411$        192,889$        


